# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF Flactronically Filed Jun 24 2019 03:04 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### **QUINZALE MASON**

Appellant,

v.

#### THE STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

#### CASE NO. 77623

Appeal from the Denial of a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Second Judicial District Court, Washoe County The Honorable Elliott A. Sattler, Department 10

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

LYN E. BEGGS, ESQ.
LAW OFFICES OF
LYN E. BEGGS, PLLC
Nevada State Bar No. 6248
316 California Ave., #863
Reno, NV 89509
Tel. (775) 432-1918
Fax (775) 473-3801
COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRS 34.575(1), this is an appeal of the denial of a post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus. An Order denying a Petition and Supplemental Petitions for Writ of Habeas Corpus (post-conviction) was filed on November 21, 2018 with a Notice of Entry of Order filed contemporaneously. The Notice of Appeal was timely filed on December 5, 2018. This Court has jurisdiction to hear this appeal pursuant to NRS 34.575(1) and NRAP 4(b).

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW

Did the District Court err in finding that Appellant Mason's counsel was not ineffective under <u>Strickland v. Washington</u> in violation of Appellant's 5<sup>th</sup>, 6<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> amendment rights when he failed to engage in a reasonable investigation related to Mason's potential alibi witness?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mason was charged on November 24, 2014 via Information with two counts Battery with a Deadly Weapon, one count Assault with a Deadly Weapon and one count Being a Felon in Possession of a Firearm. Appellant's Appendix ("AA") Volume I, 001. Mason was arraigned on December 9, 2014 at which time he pleaded not guilty to the four counts contained in the Information and invoked his right to proceed to trial within sixty (60) days. AA, I, 005.

An Amended Information was filed on February 4, 2015 omitting one count of Battery with a Deadly Weapon and charging Mason as follows: Count I, Battery with a Deadly Weapon, a violation of NRS 200.481(2)(e); Count II, Assault with a Deadly Weapon, a violation of NRS 200.471; and Count III, Being a Felon in Possession of a Firearm, a violation of 202.360. AA I, 009. A jury trial commenced on February 9, 2015 on Counts I and II of the Amended Information. AA I, 189. The found Mason guilty on Counts I and II of the Amended Information. Subsequently, Count III was presented to the jury for consideration after Mason stipulated that he had a prior conviction and the jury rendered verdict of guilty on Count III. AA IV, 700.

A Judgment was entered on March 17, 2015 sentencing Mason to one hundred twenty (120) months in the Nevada Department of Corrections ("NDOC") with parole eligibility after thirty six (36) months with two hundred eighteen (218) days credit for time served on Count I; on Count II, sixty (60) months in the NDOC with parole eligibility after twenty four (24) months to run consecutively with Count I; and on Count III, sixty (60) months in the NDOC with parole eligibility after twenty four (24) months to run concurrently with Count II. AA IV, 707.

Mason filed a direct appeal raising two issues and the Nevada Supreme Court issued its opinion on June 16, 2016 remanding the matter to the District Court for aggregation of the consecutive sentences but affirming the conviction. AA IV, 709.

Mason timely filed his Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (post-conviction) on March 2, 2017. AA IV, 715. The District Court granted leave for Mason to proceed in forma pauperis and appointed counsel on March 21, 2017. AA IV, 734. Mason, through counsel, filed a Supplemental Petition on December 8, 2017 raising two issues. AA IV, 736. The State filed a Motion to Dismiss both the Petition and Supplemental Petition on January 10, 2018. AA IV, 747. An Opposition was filed on January 24, 2018. AA IV, 755. A hearing on the Motion to Dismiss was held on May 15, 2018. AA IV, 761. Subsequent to the hearing the District Court issued an Order on June 7, 2018 dismissing all grounds raised in Mason's original Petition and Ground One of Mason's Supplemental Petition. AA IV, 762. An evidentiary hearing was held on October 31, 2018 on the remaining ground in Mason's Supplemental Petition regarding whether Mason's trial counsel was ineffective for failing to engage in proper investigation to locate an alibi witness. AA IV, 770.

The District Court issued its Order on November 21, 2018 denying the final ground of Mason's Supplemental Petition. AA V, 841. A Notice of Entry of Order was filed contemporaneously. AA V, 839. Mason subsequently timely filed an appeal giving rise to the instant matter. AA V, 847.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the morning of August 9, 2014, Mason and his neighbor, Anthony Holly, along with others, played a game of dice outside the apartment buildings where

Mason and Mr. Holly resided. AA I, 148. Mr. Holly testified at trial that an argument arose during the game between he and Mason but that Mr. Holly simply left the game. AA I, 153. Later that same morning, Mr. Holly was outside his apartment building as was his neighbor, Delphine Martin, and Ms. Martin's daughter, Cecelia. AA I, 153. Mr. Holly was walking his neighbor's dog when a four-door gold sedan drove into the parking area of the apartment buildings and stopped. AA I, 154. Mr. Holly testified that the driver exited the vehicle, made a verbal threat to Mr. Holly which caused Mr. Holly to take off running. He further testified that he heard shots being fired but did not see who fired them. AA I, 155-156. Mr. Holly could not identify who was shooting (AA I, 156). A neighbor who was sitting outside his second-floor apartment across from where the car stopped, identified the driver as Mason, although he testified he saw him for only a second. AA I, 113.

Mr. Holly ran around the apartment building and did not incur any injuries other than a few scratches from jumping over fences. AA I, 158. However, Cecelia, Ms. Martin's daughter, suffered an injury to her leg and was found after medical examination to have a metal fragment in her leg that was assumed, but not definitively determined to be, a ricocheted bullet or fragment thereof. AA II, 225.

Law enforcement responded to the scene and based upon statements made by witnesses; Mason was identified as a suspect. AA III, 437-438. As part of the

investigation, it was learned that Mason's mother, Valerie Stewart was flying into Reno on April 10, 2014 to meet Mason. AA II, 276. When Ms. Stewart arrived in Reno, she was placed under surveillance and was observed entering a gold sedan with three female occupants. AA II, 353. The vehicle was followed to an address on Lone Cedar Lane in Sun Valley. AA II, 353. The four female occupants exited the vehicle and entered the residence. AA I, 359. An hour later three females and one male, identified as possibly Mason, exited the house and entered the vehicle. AA II, 360. The vehicle was followed by law enforcement and a felony stop was conducted. AA II, 362. Mason was taken into custody. AA II, 364. He was later charged as noted above.

Mason was represented by appointed counsel, Carl Hylin, during all trial proceedings. Prior to trial Mason indicated to Mr. Hylin that he had an alibi for the day in question but according to Mr. Hylin, was only able to provide a name, "Cisco" or "Sko". AA IV, 795. Mr. Hylin filed a Notice of Alibi Witness on January 16, 2015 with the limited information he had at the time. AA I, 006. Mr. Hylin indicated during the evidentiary hearing that an investigator was assigned to the case but that he never received any information to allow him to subpoena Cisco. AA IV, 796. He stated that he was "pretty sure" his investigator had spoken to Mason about the alibi witness but was not present if that occurred. AA IV, 804.

The State filed a Motion to Exclude Evidence of an Alibi on February 5, 2015. AA I, 13. During a pre-trial status hearing, Mr. Hylin notified the Court he was unable to find any further information regarding "Cisco" and accordingly the Court granted the Motion to Exclude Evidence of an Alibi. AA I, 055.

At the time of the evidentiary hearing, Cisco Neal appeared on behalf of Mason. Mr. Neal indicated that in 2014 he lived at a residence on Lone Cedar Lane in Sun Valley. AA IV, 776. He knew Mason from playing video games on-line and eventually they played video games together at Mr. Neal's home. AA IV, 778. Mr. Neal testified that in addition to Mason, he knew Mason's girlfriend, Eboni Spurlock (AA III, 417), as she was his cousin. AA IV, 777. Mr. Neal stated that Mason would frequently come to his house by bus or he would get a ride from Ms. Spurlock or a friend and they would play video games for most of the day. AA IV, 779. He stated that on frequent occasions Mason would stay the night at Mr. Neal's home. AA IV, 779. While Mr. Neal could not remember specific dates, he testified that he remembered a day when Mason was picked up at his home by Mason's aunt and mother after Mason has spent the night at Mr. Neal's home. AA IV, 780.

Mr. Hylin admitted at the evidentiary hearing he did not interview the residents of the home on Lone Cedar where Mason had been picked up by his mother and others on April 10, 2014. AA IV, 799. Mr. Hylin also did not contact Ms. Spurlock to investigate whether she had any information about the possible alibi

witness but though that the investigator might have. AA IV, 810. He further testified that he "may" have spoken with Mason's mother, Ms. Stewart, who picked Mason up at the residence on Lone Cedar on April 10, 2014. AA IV, 811. Mr. Hylin admitted that he did not know what the assigned investigator did or did not do to locate Cisco. AA V, 814.

The District Court stated in part in the Order denying Ground Two of the Supplemental Petition that:

The Court denies Mason's claim that Hylin was ineffective for failing to investigate and present an alibi defense at trial. Hylin presented the information Mason gave him to an investigator, but the investigator could not locate Mr. Neal. The Court finds Hylin credible, and that he performed a reasonable investigation into Mason's proposed alibi. Hylin's testimony that Mason failed to give him adequate information to locate Neal was unrefuted.

AA V, 844.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Over four years after the date of the alleged offense, Mason was able to call Cisco Neal, his alibi witness, to testify at evidentiary hearing on his surviving ground for habeas relief. Information needed to locate Mr. Neal was available prior to the time of trial, however trial counsel failed to engage in a reasonable investigation which would have identified Mr. Neal. Due to trial counsel's error, Mason was prejudiced as he was unable to present his alibi witness to the jury; testimony Mason

believes would have created a reasonable probability that the jury would have found reasonable doubt existed and therefore resulting in a different outcome to the trial.

#### **ARGUMENT**

1. The District Court erred in finding that Appellant Mason's counsel was not ineffective under <u>Strickland v. Washington</u> in violation of Appellant's 5<sup>th</sup>, 6<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> amendment rights for failing to engage in a reasonable investigation related to his potential alibi witness?

#### **Standard of Review:**

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel have been determined by this court to be questions of both law and fact and thus such claims are reviewed *de novo*. Lader v. Warden, 121 Nev. 682, 686, 120 P.3d 1164, 1166 (2005) (citing <u>Kirksey v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996)). However, the district court's findings will be given deference if not clearly erroneous and supported by substantial evidence. Id.

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are considered pursuant to the test established in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). Pursuant to Strickland, a habeas petitioner must demonstrate that his or her counsel's performance was deficient, falling below an objective standard of reasonableness, and that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the defense. Id.; see also Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011-1012, 103 P.3d 25, 32 (2004). To establish prejudice based upon counsel's deficient performance, a petitioner must show that, but for

counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different. Id.

## **Argument:**

"Defense counsel has a duty 'to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary.' State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993) citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691, 104 S. Ct. at 2066 (1984). "In any ineffectiveness case, a particular decision not to investigate must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances, applying a heavy measure of deference to counsel's judgments." Id. Mason contends that his trial counsel did not engage in a reasonable investigation.

Mason was observed being picked up at residence in Sun Valley on Lone Cedar Lane on April 10, 2014 and entering a vehicle with three females, one of whom included his mother, and was arrested shortly after the vehicle left the residence. AA II, 360-362 Mason indicated to his trial counsel that he had been with his friend Cisco at the time the alleged incident occurred. Despite Mason being picked up the morning after the alleged offense at a residence in Sun Valley, Mr. Hylin did not inquire as to who lived at the house or why Mason was there. He had a vague recollection of speaking with Mason's mother prior to trial but could not recall any details about the conversation or whether he spoke with her about an alibi or the residence on Lone Cedar Lane. He could recall vaguely speaking with Ms.

Spurlock about her car, which was involved in the case, but could not recall speaking with her about assisting in locating Mason's potential alibi witness. AA V, 817. Mr. Hylin assigned the matter to an investigator but had no knowledge of what the investigator did in the case and Mr. Hylin engaged in no further inquiries regarding Mason's potential alibi witness.

Despite the alleged difficulty in locating Cisco prior to the trial, Mr. Neal appeared, over four years after the events in question, at the time of the evidentiary hearing in October 2018. He testified that he lived on Lone Cedar Lane in Sun Valley in 2014 and that he had a recollection of Mason being picked up by his mother and others sometime in 2014 after Mason had stayed overnight playing video games. AA IV, 781.

Mason contends that Mr. Hylin's failure to speak with his mother or Ms. Spurlock about the potential alibi witness, or at a minimum ensuring his investigator did so, was unreasonable. Further, Mason contends that Mr. Hylin's failure to engage in any inquiry regarding the residence where Mason was picked up was also unreasonable. Mason had informed Mr. Hylin that he was with Cisco, aka "Sko" at the time of the alleged offense. It would have been reasonable for Mr. Hylin to inquire as to whether the residence where Mason was picked up by his mother was Cisco's residence. Mason asserts that Mr. Hylin's failure to engage in any activity other than assigning the case to an investigator; even failing to inquire what

investigation the investigator had engaged in, falls below an objective standard of reasonableness and meets the first prong of *Strickland*.

Mason further asserts that his counsel's error did result in prejudice against him. As his counsel failed to engage in reasonable investigation that would have identified Mr. Neal as the alibi witness, the State was successful in excluding any alibi evidence. Further, had Mr. Neal testified at the time of the trial, Mason asserts that he would have testified to the fact that Mason was playing video games with him at the time of the alleged incident. Due to counsel's failure to engage in a reasonable investigation to locate Mr. Neal, the jury did not hear from Mr. Neal. Mason contends that had the jury heard Mr. Neal's testimony there was a reasonable probability that the testimony would have created reasonable doubt and that the outcome of the trial could have been different.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Mason contends that the District Court erred in denying his Supplemental Petition for the reasons stated above. He contends that the evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing clearly supports that his trial counsel failed to engage in a reasonable investigation to locate his potential alibi witness. The alibi witness, Cisco Neal, lived at the residence that Mason was picked up from on April 10, 2014, supporting his alibi that he was with Mr. Neal at the time of the incident in question. Mason contends that he has met both prongs of Strickland to show that his trial

counsel was ineffective and accordingly the District Court erred in finding his

counsel was not ineffective. Accordingly, Appellant Mason respectfully requests

that this Court overturn the findings of the District Court.

**ROUTING STATEMENT** 

This appeal is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because it does

not involve a death penalty, nor does it include convictions for category A felonies.

See NRS NRAP 17(b)(1). Appellant knows of no reason why this matter should not

be assigned to the Court of Appeals.