IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

QUINZALE MASON,

No. 77623

Electronically Filed Aug 23 2019 09:20 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

LYN E. BEGGS, ESQ. 316 California Ave., #863 Reno. Nevada 89509 CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS
Washoe County District Attorney

JENNIFER P. NOBLE Chief Appellate Deputy One South Sierra Street Reno, Nevada 89501

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order denying a post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus. Following a jury trial, Quinzale Mason ("Mason") was convicted of Count I, Battery with a Deadly Weapon; Count II, Assault with a Deadly Weapon; and Count III, Being a Felon in Possession of a Firearm. IV Appellant's Appendix ("AA") 707. Mason pursued a direct appeal, which resulted in remand for aggregation of the sentences, but an affirmance of the conviction. IV AA IV 709.

Mason filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus, and a supplemental petition with the assistance of appointed counsel. IV AA, 715; 736. The State filed a motion to dismiss Mason's petition and supplemental petition,

and Mason opposed the motion. IV AA 747; 755. After a motion hearing, the district court dismissed all grounds but one, which alleged ineffective assistance of counsel relating to an alibi witness. *Id.*, 762. Following the evidentiary hearing, the district court denied Mason's remaining ground for relief. V AA 841. This appeal followed.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

Because this appeal does not involve a post-conviction challenge to a category A felony, it is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals.

NRAP 17 (b)(1).

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. <u>Facts Established At Trial.</u>

Anthony Holly lived in the same apartment complex as Mason. I AA 146. On August, 9, 2014, Holly joined in on a game of craps with several people, including Mason. *Id.* at 147-151. Holly and Mason got into a verbal argument over the game, and Holly left the area. *Id.* at 107, 151-153. A couple hours later, Holly was outside "playing with the neighbor's dog at the edge of the parking lot" when Mason pulled up in a car and said something like, "'I got you now,'" or "'I got yo ass.'" *Id.* at 153-154. Holly took off running, and Mason shot at Holly several times. *Id.* at 154-157.

Several people were in the area, including two children and their two dogs. *Id.* at 160.

Huey Paul Stanley, Jr. lived near Holly and Mason. *Id.* at 86-87; 94-95. Stanley was sitting outside with his wife watching Holly play with the neighbor's dog when he saw Mason park his car. *Id.* at 96-97. Stanley heard Mason say "'Ah-hah, I got you now;' "seconds later he heard gunshots—'"pow, pow, pow'"—coming from Mason's direction. *Id.* at 101, 108. Stanley saw Holly "ducking, going back and forth trying to figure out which way to get out." *Id.* at 101-102. Stanley then heard his neighbor, Delphine Martin, "screaming that her baby got shot." *Id.* at 102.

Reno Police Officer Benjamin Lancaster arrived, and found a little girl, Cecilia M., shot in her lower right leg. *Id.* at 127-128, 74, 75. *Id.* He wrapped the leg with gauze and applied pressure until medical personnel arrived. *Id.* He found two 9 millimeter casings on scene. *Id.* at 139-140, 143; III AA 442.

At the hospital, Dr. Cinelli found that the "[d]istortion of the metal fragment[] [in Cecilia's leg was] typical with a ricochet." II AA 222, 225. When police later arrested Mason, he stated he was on his way "'to the station to turn [him]self in.'" II AA 521, 530.

2. Facts Established At Post-Conviction Evidentiary Hearing.

Mason presented two witnesses at the evidentiary hearing to prove Hylin was ineffective for failing to present an alibi defense at trial—Cisco Neal, and former counsel Hylin.

Neal testified he knew Mason well "from online" and played video games with him every day, or nearly every day, during the summer of 2014 at Neal's residence in Sun Valley, Nevada. IV AA 776-777. While they often played games "together" online with each person at a separate location, sometimes they played video games together in person. *Id.*, 778. Neal explained that Mason's friend or cousin dropped Mason off at Neal's residence in the summer of 2014, and Mason spent the night at Neal's residence about two times a week during this period of time. *Id.*, 779-782. Different people, including Neal's cousin, Ebony, picked Mason up from Neal's residence. *Id.*

Neal testified he did not see Mason every day. *Id.*, 784. Neal did not know where he was or what he was doing on August 9, 2014, the date of the crimes at issue in this case. *Id.*, 787. Neal did not know where Mason was or what he was doing on August, 9, 2014. *Id.* He knew Mason had been arrested, but never Neal testified that his memory has been compromised by smoking marijuana on a daily basis. *Id.*, 790-792.

Hylin testified that he went over the discovery, the nature of the charges, and all possible defenses with Mason. Id., 795, 799-800. Hylin testified that according to his custom and practice he left a copy of the discovery with Mason at the Washoe County Detention Center. Id., 799-800. According to Hylin, Mason told him that he was not at the crime scene on August 9, 2014, and that a person named "Cisco" or "Sco" (i.e., Neal) could provide an alibi for Mason on the day of the crime. *Id.*, 795. But Mason could not provide Hylin with Neal's full name, address, contact information, or even a description of Mason's neighborhood. *Id.*, 795-796, V AA 805. Hylin asked his investigator to try to locate Neal, but the investigator had no success. IV AA, 796-797. Nevertheless, Hylin filed a notice of alibi to protect Mason's right to present an alibi defense at trial, in case Hylin and his investigator found credible evidence of an alibi. *Id.*, 797. The notice of alibi Hylin filed did not state specifically where Mason was when the crime was committed. Thus, the State filed an objection to the notice before trial. V AA 809.

IV. <u>STATEMENT OF ISSUES</u>

A. Mason failed to provide trial counsel with any contact information, including an actual name for his purported alibi witness, and two eyewitnesses identified Mason as the perpetrator at trial. The alibi

witness could not actually provide an alibi. Did the district court error in denying Mason's ineffective assistance of counsel claim regarding the alibi witness?

V. <u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT</u>

In this appeal, Mason does not allege that the district court erred in denying the bulk of his claims prior to evidentiary hearing. However, with respect to his alibi witness claim, he asserts that the district court erred in denying relief.

At the evidentiary hearing, it was established that 1) Mason did not provide his counsel with any meaningful information that might help counsel locate the witness prior to trial; and 2) the witness could not actually provide an alibi. The district court correctly concluded that no relief was warranted.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. <u>The District Court Correctly Concluded That Counsel Was</u> Not Ineffective With Respect to the Purported Alibi Witness.

1. Standard of Review

In a post-conviction habeas action, the district court must evaluate claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under the test established in *Strickland v. Washington,* 466 U.S. 668 (1984). *Strickland*, and its local progeny, dictate that our evaluation begins with the "strong presumption"

that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." The Supreme Court further explained that the "defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action might be considered sound trial strategy." *Id.* Within the context of this strong presumption, the petitioner must demonstrate, by a preponderance of evidence, that his counsel's performance was deficient, falling below an objective standard of reasonableness, and that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the defense. *Means v. State*, 120 Nev. 1001, 1012, 103 P.3d 25, 33 (2004). To establish prejudice based on counsel's deficient performance, a petitioner must show that, but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different. A court may evaluate the questions of deficient performance and prejudice in either order and need not consider both issues if the defendant fails to make a sufficient showing on one. *Id.*

2. Discussion

Mason asserts that the district court erred in finding that his former counsel, Carl Hylin, was not ineffective for failing to locate and call Neal, whom he alleges was an available alibi witness. In making a fair assessment of counsel's performance, the trial court must reconstruct the

circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct and evaluate that challenged act or omission from counsel's perspective at the time, while remaining perfectly mindful that counsel is "strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the

exercise of reasonable professional judgment." *Id.* at 689-90.

At the evidentiary hearing, Mason failed to establish that Hylin's or his investigator's performances were deficient with respect to locating or presenting an alibi witness. Hylin's testimony that prior to trial, his client could not provide him with the alibi witness's name, address, or neighborhood description went unrefuted. Without such basic information from his client, it was not unreasonable for Hylin not to locate the witness. Therefore, the first prong of *Strickland* was not satisfied, and the analysis could end there.

Moreover, there was absolutely no demonstration of *Strickland* prejudice. Mason failed to establish that Neal would have actually provided an alibi, had he been called to testify. Additionally, the evidence against Mason was overwhelming. The district court correctly found that the strength of the State's evidence at trial further undermined his effort to demonstrate *Strickland* prejudice. V AA 645.

VII. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully asserts that this Court should deny Mason's appeal in its entirety.

DATED: August 23, 2019.

CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS DISTRICT ATTORNEY

By: JENNIFER P. NOBLE Chief Appellate Deputy